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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Dan's Hill, a Federal-style residence, is located in a densely wooded area four miles 
west of Danville in Pittsylvania County. Erected during the second decade of th~ 19th 
century, the brick dwelling is a two-and-one-half story, double-pile, central-plan house 
covered by a gable roof. 

Set on a high basement, the front (north) elevation is laid in Flemish bond. The 
five-bay facade is dominated by a graceful pedimented one-story Roman Doric portico set on 
a podium. The portico shelters a semi-circular fanlight entry which retains both its 
original paneled double door, and intersecting tracery in the fanlight. The fenestration 
consists of 9/9 hung sash framed by a simply executed architrave and surmounted by rowlock 
lintels. A Doric cornice runs the entire length of both the north and south elevations. 

The garden (south) elevation, like the rest of the secondary walls, is laid in three­
course American bond. The treatment of this elevation duplicates the main (north) facade. 
The west facade contains two semi-exterior end chimneys which flank paired central windows 
of two-and-one-half stories. The east elevation has been altered at the first story by 
the addition of a one-story service wing covered by a shed roof. An enclosed patio and 
basement-level garage project from this wing. 

The interior of Dan's Hill contains distinguished architectural elements. A finely 
executed semi-elliptical reeded arch divides the central hall into an entry passage and 
stair hall. The entry passage contains elaborate wainscoting capped by a chair rail with 
gouged rosettes and flutes. The doorways in the hall have fluted symmetrical architrave 
trim with finely molded corner blocks. The stair hall is dominated by an exceptionally 
handsome, open-well stair that ascends to the attic. The stair has paneled spandrels, 
sawn-scroll brackets, a round handrail, and rectangular balusters, two-to-a-tread. The 
har,drail is ramped and eased at the turned newels. Paralleling the stair is a handsomely 
finished wainscot with a finely molded chair rail. Openings in the stair hall are 
identical. to those found in the entry passage. The rear door is a six-light double door, 
not original to the house. 

The northwest (front) parlor is a handsome room in a fine state of preservation. 
focal point of the room is the King of Prussia marble mantel, original to the house. 
architrave of Greek Revival inspiration is reeded. The wainscoting is similar to that 

The 
The 

foW1d in the entry passage. A semi-circular arched double doorway connects the front parlor 
to the rear. The ceiling is a copy of an original found in the southwest parlor. 

Like the front parlor, the rear (southwest) parlor contains a handsome mantel that 
was moved from the dining room. Constructed of black marble, this mantel has engaged 
Ionic colUITUls supporting a simple entablature and mantel shelf. The wainscoting is 
similar to that found in the hall. Of special note is the original ornamental stucco 
ceiling which boasts a finely executed acanthus medallion centerpiece. 

The dining room (northeast) is of less elaborate execution th'an the west parlors. The 
original mantel was removed during the house's early restoration in the 1930s. Likewise, 
the southeast den has undergone renovation and was paneled in the 1930s. 

The second-floor rooms, while spacious, are less elaborate than those on the first 
floor. The well-executed mantels and molded chair rails are preserved throughout the 
second floor. 

(See Continuation Sheet #1) 
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 
Located on the north side of the Dan River in Pittsylvania County, Dan's Hill. is a 

handsome and well-preserved example of Southside Virginia's Federal-style architecture. 
Its fine brickwork, interior appointments and outstanding collection of outbuildings 
rank the property high in interest among the state's plantation complexes. Built by the 
Wilson family during the second decade of the 19th century, the house bears a strong 
stylistic resemblance to the work of James Dejarnett, a Pittsylvania County builder 
of the era. 

Peter Wilson, the first of the family to settle in the area, acquired land patents 
as early as 1748 on the north side of the Dan River in what was then Lunenburg County. 
His will, recorded in Halifax County in 1763, lists substantial bequests to his wife 
and children, among whom was John Wilson, for whom Dan's Hill was built. 

John Wilson inherited from his father in 1764, "one tract of 300 acres of land ••. 
adjoining on the back of the hundred and sixty acres I deeded him ••• " John accumulated 
additional holdings through deeds and grants, so that by 1782 the first Pittsylvania 
land tax book charged him with 4070 acres of land, which he increased in subsequent years. 
The town of Danville was established in 1775 on land that he owned, and he was a trustee 
of the town. 

John Wilson's acquisition of land paralleled his success in business. Wilson and his 
sons operated a very large and successful mercantile business in Pittsylvania County as 
well as in neighboring Rockingham County, North Carolina. His many business contacts 
resulted in frequent trips to Petersburg, RichinOnd, and Lynchburg. 

In addition to operating successful business ventures, Wilson was prominent in 
community affairs; he served as both a justice and a sheriff of the county. He was 
elected to the conunittee of safety in 1775 and was a member of the House of Delegates in 
1778, 1779, and 1782. He had been a "county lieutenant" during the war years and was a 
member of the Constitutional Convention when Virginia ratified the U.S. Constitution. 
For ten years following the Revolution, he served as a "county secretary." Such activity 
and stature required a commodious and fashionable dwelling. 

Although the exact date for the erection of Dan's Hill is unknown, tax books and 
other documents contribute some knowledge to the house's history. It is known from the 
tax books that the Wilson tract of 300 acres had buildings valued at $3,000 in 1820. The 
building value does not change in the tax book until 1840, when the property value in­
creases to $4,000. It is to be further·noted that John Wilson's will of 1820 provides 
for his son Robert, "all that tract of land lying on the north side of the Dan River where 
I now reside .•• together with my dwelling house, stone house, lumber house ••• But my son 
Robert is not to have the houses •• during the life of his mother ••• " Mary Wilson's will 
was recorded in 1827, at which time Robert Wilson presumably took possession of the house. 

(See Continuation Sheet *2) 
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Dan's Hill is fortunate in retaining most of its original outbuildings. The 
buildings, including a kitchen, a dairy, a gazebo, an orangery, a privy, smoke­
houses, and a spinn.i.ng house, are presently well maintained, as are the gardens 
which surround the house. 

The kitchen is a one-and-a-half-story brick structure, laid in three-course 
American bond. A molded cornice runs the length of the front elevation. Evidence 
suggests that the cornice may have been modified during a 20th-century restoration. 
The Doric portico and dormer windows were added at this time. Two semi-exterior end 
chimneys are original to the strucutre. 

The dairy is a one-story, one-bay brick structure connected to the main house 
by a brick wall, added in the present century. The building is notable for its 
original wooden horizontal louvers installed for ventilation. 

Located in the center of the formal garden, the gazebo is a one-story Roman Doric 
columned octagon topped by a roof. Wooden louvered blinds cover four.sides. The 
remaining sides a.re open for ventilation. This gazebo is one of a few surviving 
early 19th-century Virginia summerhouses. 

The orangery is a one-story, Flemish-bond brick structure believed to date from 
the 19th century. The facade is dominated by ground-level, hung-sash windows, and 
the cornice is similar to that found on the other outbuildings. 

The original privy is a wood-frame, clapboard building with a batten door and 
molded cornice. The early smokehouses consist of a large gable-roof smokehouse and 
two smaller hipped-roof smokehouses capped by finials. The spinning house is a two­
story, wood-frame building that has been altered on the interior. 

A farm complex is located west of the garden. Since Dan's Hill is still a work­
ing farm, these buildings have been altered to conform to modern agricultural opera­
tions •. The farmer's residence is a 19th-century, one-and-a-half-story, wood-frame 
structure that has been altered. The porch was added in the present century. The 
~ain barn was rebuilt during the 20th century, and a series of three corncribs was 
built at the same time. 

The estate boasts a finely landscaped lawn and gardens. Many of the trees and 
shrubs date from 19th century, as do several of the well-maintained brick walks. 

RCC 
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7. DESCRIPTION 

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION 

The boundary is derived from the original Wilson estate and contains 
approximately g3 acres. This acreage includes the main house and all the original 
outbuildings, with the land extending down to the Dan River. The river area was 
of vital importance during Wilson's plantation days. The southernmost boundary 
follows the natural contours of the Dan River; the northernmost boundary includes 
t.~e front of the property and surrounding outbuildings; the east and west lines, 
run parallel and are drawn to include outbuildings that were part of the original 
Wilson estate. 

8- SIGNIFICANCE 

The house's attribution of Pittsylvania County builder James Dejarnett stems 
from an article of agreement dated December 22, 1823, and signed by Dejarnett and 
Samuel Hairston of Oak Hill, a neighboring plantation. The document states; "all 
of which work the sd. Dejarnett doth bind himself to complete ••. on or before the 
25th October 1825, as to make more fully understood the work are to be done in a 
stile and manner not infrior to Colo. Nathl Wilsons New building done by sd, 
Dejarnett .•• " Although the Nathaniel Wilson House, Belle Grade, was burned in the 
19th century, Oak Hill still stands to allow for comparison. On its exterior Oak 
Hill is nearly identical to Dan's Hill despite the fact that the former is un­
occupied and deteriorated. 

Dan's Hill contains many salient features of the Federal style. The brickwork 
on the facade is finely executed and deserving of the dwarf Roman Doric portico and 
Doric cornicing on both the front and garden elevations. Such interior features as 
the hall stair and the finely finished wainscoting and hall arch testify to the Wilson, 
family's interest in appointing Dan's Hill with stylish embellishments. Robert Wilson 
maintained his father's business and land holding and is believed to have modernized 
the house around 1840, although possibly with the replacement of some of the out­
buildings. 

Dan's Hill is fortunate in the survival and preservation of its outbuildings. 
The dairy, gazebo, and greenhouse are especially noteworthy. the gardens and walks 
of Dan's Hill date to the 19th century and have been maintained by the present owner 
of the house, Mr. John G. Boatwright. 
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